INTRODUCTION

Myra Kay Reilley, the 89-year-old widow of Francis E. Reilley, appeals both individually and in her capacity as Administratrix of the Estate of Francis E. Reilley, from a series of orders entered by the Circuit Court of Marshall County arising out of flooding on low-lying property owned by the Marshall County Board of Education, flooding going as far back as 2004 and no more recently than 2010. The BOE contended that Mr. Reilley's 1985 construction of a bridge, an embankment, and the installation of two culverts over a creek resulted in sporadic flooding of property on which John Marshall High School's baseball field sits. Despite the BOE not filing suit until 2010, more than two years after two of the four flood events for which it sought monetary damages, the trial court permitted the jury to make findings with respect to all four and ultimately entered judgment of almost \$240,000, much of which was prejudgment interest because the 2019 damages trial took place some 13 and one-half years after the first flood event. In September of 2020, the trial court entered a mandatory injunction requiring removal of the bridge, etc., at a cost estimated by Plaintiff's expert to exceed \$200,000. Mrs. Reilley seeks review.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO TIMELY SERVE BASED ON ITS FINDING OF UNSPECIFIED "GOOD CAUSE."
- II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ULTIMATELY PERMITTING THE JURY TO CONSIDER PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS FOR MONETARY DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THE TWO FLOOD EVENTS WHICH OCCURRED MORE THAN TWO YEARS BEFORE SUIT WAS INITIALLY FILED.
- III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTON FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, FOR JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW OR FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE DUCK LANE BRIDGE AND THE INSTALLATION OF THE CULVERTS PROXIMATELY CAUSED THE MONETARY DAMAGES CLAIMED.
- IV. THE LOWER COURT'S AWARD OF INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FAILED TO COMPLY WITH RULE 65 BECAUSE IT FAILED TO CONTAIN APPROPRIATE FINDINGS OF FACT OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND WAS OTHERWISE UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OF IRREPARABLE HARM OR ANY OTHER BASIS FOR THE AWARD OF INJUNCTIVE RELIEF.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff initiated this action on September 2, 2010 by filing its "Verified Complaint for Injunctive, Declaratory & Monetary Relief" with the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia, where it was initially assigned to Judge Karl. (App. 21-55). This suit arises from flooding which occurred four times between 2004 and 2010 on a low-lying piece of property owned by Respondent, The Board of Education of the County of Marshall ("BOE") where it built John Marshall High School ("JMHS") and certain of its athletic fields. The property is bordered on one side by the Little Grave Creek. The original complaint named Frances E. Reilley, the City of Glen Dale, and the County Commission of Marshall County as defendants. The Civil Case Information Sheet with accompanied the Plaintiff's original complaint indicated that Mr. Reilley would be served by private process server. (App. 56-57). Despite the September, 2010 filing, Plaintiff did not request that a summons issue until January 28, 2011 (App. 58) and Mr. Reilley was personally served that day. (App. 65).

Because service was not effected upon Mr. Reilley within 120 says of the complaint's filing as required by Rule 4(k) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, on Mr. Reilley moved to dismiss (App. 59-61) and supported his motion with a memorandum, both served on February 25, 2011. (App. 62-71). That same motion also argued that two of the flood events for which the BOE sought monetary damages— one on September 17, 2004 during the wide-spread flooding that accompanied Hurricane Ivan¹ and the other on February 1, 2008—occurred more

Indeed, as Plaintiff admitted in the course of arguing that the motion to dismiss should be denied, "The Court, of course, could take notice that the 2004 flood occurred when the remnants of Hurricane Ivan passed through West Virginia and areas of West Virginia – Marshall County included – received as much as seven or more inches of rain in short time periods." (App. 76).

than two years preceding the filing of the complaint and the damages claims were therefore barred by the statute of limitations. (App. 68-71).

Plaintiff responded to the motion on March 30, 2011 by admitting it failed to effect timely service (App. 73) but argued that good existed for the failure due to the wrapping up of its then-counsel's law practice and transition to a new firm. (App. 73-75). With respect to the statute of limitations claims, the BOE argued that because it could not necessarily have determined what caused the flooding in 2004 and 2008, the discovery rule alone precluded the statute from running. (App. 75-77). It further argued that the "continuing tort" applied to those discrete damage claims such that the statute of limitations had not run. (App. 77-78).

Over a year later, with Judge Karl still pondering the dismissal motion, Francis E. Reilley passed away on April 14, 2012 from cardiac arrest. (App. 96). After Myra Kay Reilley was appointed as Administratrix of the Estate of Francis E. Reilley on June 15, 2012, she filed a motion in that capacity to be substituted in his place. (App. 87-92). That motion was granted on September 28, 2012. (App. 97). Despite the fact the 2011 Motion to Dismiss was still pending, the substituted Defendant served an answer – raising the same and other defenses – on April 12, 2013. (App. 98-121).

On November 18, 2013 – with the dismissal motion still pending – Plaintiff filed a motion to amend the Complaint (App. 122-126) to "clarify the allegations made against each Defendant and to ensure its request for injunctive relief names the property party." (App. 122). Asserting that Myra Kay Reilley now owned the property in question (it had been owned solely by Mr. Reilley prior to his death), the BOE asserted that "[t]o name the proper party to pursue injunctive relief, then, the Board must proceed against Mrs. Reilley individually, not the Estate of Francis E. Reilley." (App. 124). On January 2, 2014, Judge Karl entered an Agreed Order

permitting the amendment (App. 127-128) and the First Amended and Verified Complaint for Injunctive, Declaratory & Monetary Relief ("Amended Complaint") was filed on January 30, 2014. (App. 129-164).

There was no allegation in that pleading that Mrs. Reilley had any ownership interest in the properties at issue prior to the death of Francis E. Reilley or that she played any role in the construction of the bridge or the installation of the culverts at issue. To the contrary, Plaintiff alleged in the Amended Complaint that Mr. Reilley owned the properties, constructed Duck Lane, the Duck Lane Bridge over Little Grave Creek, and installed culverts below the road. (App. 131-132, 133-134). Mrs. Reilley, individually and as Administratrix of the Estate of Francis E. Reilley filed an answer on March 5, 2014 admitting that Mr. Reilley owned the properties, constructed the Duck Lane Bridge over Little Grave Creek, constructed Duck Lane, and installed culverts below the road. (App. 167-168, 170).

In addition to the activity (and inactivity) noted above, the record reflects that the parties were engaged in various discovery efforts and that Judge Karl had entered various scheduling orders. On April 11, 2014, more than three years after the original motion to dismiss had been filed by the late Mr. Reilley, Judge Karl *sua sponte* vacated an April 18, 2014 Pretrial

Conference and instead set a status conference for April 24, 2014. (App. 191). The May 3, 2014

Order following that status conference indicated that discovery was to be completed by

September 30, 2014 with a new Pretrial Conference for October 17, 2014 "at which time the

Court will set a trial date if all discovery is completed." (App. 192). Shortly before that date, the parties jointly requested an extension of the discovery completion deadline and the rescheduling of the pretrial conference, in part to allow time for an attempt to resolve the case. (App. 194-198). That joint motion was granted, and the Pretrial Conference reset for January 30, 2015,

(App. 199). The parties subsequently advised Judge Karl that additional time was need for discovery and, on January 20, 2015, he continued generally the January 30, 2015 Pretrial Conference. (App. 200-201).

The record does not reflect any activity in the case for the next 18 months. In the meantime, Judge Karl retired in June of 2015 without ever ruling on the motion to dismiss and Judge Cramer was appointed in his place. On August 11, 2016, Judge Cramer transferred the case to Judge Hummel due to Judge Cramer's prior involvement in the case in his capacity as Marshall County Prosecuting Attorney. (App. 202). Shortly afterwards, on August 24, 2016, the original Reilley defense counsel moved to withdraw (App. 203-207), and that motion was granted on September 15, 2016. (App. 209).

In the meantime, Judge Hummel appointed Timothy Linkous as a mediator on September 7, 2016 (App. 208) and mediation was originally set for November 3, 2016. (App. 84). That mediation was ultimately held on January 19, 2017, at which time all parties appeared by counsel. (App. 213-214). Although the case did not resolve, the mediator reported to the Court that:

the parties were able to reach a tentative agreement as to some essential matters that may very well serve as the foundation for a complete resolution of their disputes. The parties' agreement requires some joint actions over the course of the next few months, an agreement to stay discovery pending those actions, and then a reconvening of the mediation in an effort to reach a full and final settlement.

(App. 213). Those efforts would ultimately prove unsuccessful and after the counsel who had appeared at the mediation for Mrs. Reilley moved to withdraw (App. 217-221), both she and the

Board of Education retained new counsel to represent them going forward. (App. 222-225, 226-228).²

On February 14, 2018, almost 7 years after Francis E. Reilley had sought dismissal of the complaint for failure to timely serve him with the complaint and to dismiss the claims for monetary damages arising from the 2004 and 2008 floods, Judge Hummel denied the dismissal motion. (App. 6-10). With respect to the Rule 4(k) motion, the Court found that "good cause clearly exists" for excusing the untimely service, citing the affidavit of the Board's former counsel. (App. 9). With respect to the statute of limitations portion of the motion, the Court stated:

While Defendant's position may very well be spot-on correct relative to damages alleged to have resulted from the 2004 and 2008 flooding episodes, it is this Court's position that the parties should be given further opportunity for discovery to develop the facts. When discovery has sufficiently produced such facts, Defendant may reach the same issues by way of a Motion for Summary Judgment.

(App. 9). Two weeks later, on February 26, 2018, Judge Hummel entered an Agreed Order dismissing without prejudice the Plaintiff's claims involving the City of Glen Dale and the Marshall County Commission. (App. 235-236).

The Court held a telephonic scheduling conference on May 3, 2018 and entered on May 5, 2018 a Scheduling Conference Order setting, among other things, a September 19, 2018 discovery completion deadline, a dispositive motion hearing date of October 22, 2018, and a trial date of November 13, 2018. (App. 237-241). Unfortunately, the father of primary counsel for Mrs. Reilley passed away on August 17, 2018 in Virginia, necessitating a motion to continue the

Even after the appearance of new counsel for both parties, the litigation remained stayed pending potential resolution. (See App. 233) (noting cancellation of an October 27, 2017 telephonic status conference due to the agreement to stay litigation).

trial date by Mrs. Reilley (App. 242-244) which was granted by an Agreed Order entered on September 20, 2018. (App. 245-246).

The trial court converted the previously scheduled dispositive motion hearing into a new pretrial conference and thereafter entered an order on October 22, 2018 setting certain deadlines and a trial date of March 18, 2019. (App. 247-248). Subsequently, following a February 5, 2019 telephone hearing, that October order was amended to add additional deadlines for the briefing of dispositive motions. (App. 254-255). Both parties briefed their dispositive motions in accordance with those deadlines. (App. 256-273, 274-953, 954-978, 979-988, 989-994, and 995-997). The record reflects that the trial court never entered a written order on either motion. It nonetheless, apparently indicated at a March 5, 2018 pretrial conference that the motions would be denied and that oral ruling was restated prior to trial. (App. 1019).

Instead, the case proceeded to trial as scheduled on March 18, 2019. At the close of Plaintiff's case-in-chief, the following colloquy took place:

[Mrs. Reilley's trial counsel]: I believe I have a motion to make outside the presence of the jury.

THE COURT: You're going to get emotional outside of the jury? Okay.

(App. 1563). He then excused the jury (id.) and after counsel for Plaintiff indicated he too had a motion, the trial court stated, "Okay. Very good. Let me hear them and then I can deny them." (App. 1564). After hearing arguments from counsel considering the two motions for judgment, the Court – as he indicated he would – denied them. (App. 1574-1575).

Mrs. Reilley argued the Plaintiff had failed to prove proximate causation for any of the damages claimed from the four flood events and Plaintiff asserted that under the doctrine of riparian rights, any impoundment of water was sufficient to establish liability. (App. 1564-1574).

Following a three-day trial, the jury answered "yes" to interrogatories asking whether Plaintiff "has proven its case against Defendants" as to the each of the four flooding events at issue (9/17/2004, 2/1/2008, 6/17/2009, and 6/5/2010). (App. 1767). Pursuant to a stipulation entered into during trial and announced to the jury at to the amount of monetary damages sustained during each of the four floods (App. 1474-1475, 2157-2160), the Court entered judgment on April 16, 2019 awarded judgment for Plaintiff in the amount of \$122,861.79 for its damages claims, \$4\$ \$127,111.74 in prejudgment interest, along with post-judgment interest and costs. (App. 11-13). The jury was not asked about future harm or the potential for such; it was not asked to make a determination about any other flood events (or even heard any evidence about them); and was only asked to address the BOE's assertion of liability for the four specific flood events.

Defendant filed a timely post-trial motion seeking judgment as a matter of law on the damage claims based on the Plaintiff's failure to prove that the so-called "improvements" proximately caused any of the monetary damages sought by Plaintiff for each of the four flooding events at issue. (App. 2162-2177). That same motion alternatively sought a new trial on the same grounds. (*Id.*). Finally, it sought amendment of the April 16, 2019 Judgment Order

Specifically, the stipulated amounts were \$54,992.72 for the September 17, 2004 flood, \$7,555.97 for the March 4, 2008 flood, \$58,038.65 for the June 18, 2009 flood, and \$2,274.45 for the June 5, 2010 flood. (App. 2157-2160). In other words, the two floods which occurred more than two years prior to the filing of the suit accounted for slightly more than half of Plaintiff's claimed monetary damages.

to reduce or eliminate the \$127,111.74 award of prejudgment interest. (*Id.*). Plaintiff responded on May 31, 2019 (App. 2178-2193).

The trial court heard arguments on the motion on June 5, 2019 and denied in part and granted in part the motion by Order entered August 8, 2019. (App. 14-18). Specifically, the trial court denied the motion to the extent it sought judgment as a matter of law or a new trial (App. 15-16). With respect to the motion to amend, the trial court reduced the prejudgment interest award to \$115,775.24 by concluding that prejudgment interest should "be measured from the date of such flood event until February 13, 2018" (a period of 400 days). (App. 16). Finally, recognizing that the order was not appealable "because the Order does not adjudicate all issues between the parties as the injunction count remains to decided by the Court." (App. 16).

Despite that recognition, the record does not reflect any action taken over the next four months to address the injunctive relief issue. Instead, the next item of record was a December 9, 2019 motion to withdraw filed by Mrs. Reilley's trial counsel due to his planned January 31, 2020 retirement from the practice of law. (App. 2194-2203). That motion was granted by Order entered December 20, 2019. (App. 2204-2205).

The record does not reflect that Mrs. Reilley obtained new counsel. Eventually, on June 4, 2020 – more than 9 and one-half years after filing the original complaint and almost ten years to the day from when the last flooding event at issue considered by the jury took place,⁵ Plaintiff filed its motion for injunctive relief and attached to it an engineering study performed by Mr. Kearns after the trial. (App. 2206-2224). That motion was set for hearing on September 15,

In fact, the trial court precluded Plaintiff's counsel from introducing evidence of any flooding it claimed had occurred after the filing of the Complaint and had to reiterate that ruling during trial. (See, App. 1133-1135).

2020. (App. 2225-2226). The hearing took place as scheduled, some eighteen months after the trial. (App. 2227-2243).

At the hearing, the Plaintiff introduced no witnesses and specifically did not call Mr. Kearns. (App. 2234). Instead, according to the argument presented by Plaintiff's counsel, its position was that the jury's verdict necessitated the conclusion that the jury found "that the certain obstruction to the bridge, the embankment, the fill caused Little Grave Creek to—back up and impound on the board's property." (App. 2234). From that position, he argued that "[u]nder the law of riparian rights and continuous trespass and nuisance, once you make that factual showing, once you established those factual predicates, you're entitled to have the obstruction removed, and that's really what we're requesting at this juncture." (App. 2234). Plaintiff then relied upon the report attached to its motion as the basis for the nature of the injunctive relief it then sought—"remove the obstruction consistent with the engineering study that was performed by Mr. Kearns." (App. 2235).

Accepting all of that argument, Judge Hummel indicated he would accept the report and order remediation be completed in accordance with that report. (App. 2241). At the Court's request, counsel for the Plaintiff prepared the order from the injunction hearing. (*Id.*). That order, entered on September 21, 2020, required the remediation be completed by April 1, 2021 "in accordance with the conceptual plan contained in the April 2, 2020 Engineering Study" attached to the motion. To reach that conclusion, the Order simply stated:

In addition to the arguments of counsel, the Court incorporates the evidence introduced at and accepts the findings of the Jury in its Verdict from the trial of the damages phase of the case where the Jury found that the Reilley defendants have, in fact, placed obstructions in the stream channel, drainageway and floodway of Little Grave Creek that cause water to impound upon the upstream property of the Marshall Co. BOE. Based upon the trial evidence and Jury Verdict finding that the Reilley Defendants have obstructed the flow of Little Grave Creek, the Court finds as a matter of law under each of the alternative

theories of continuing trespass, violation of riparian rights and nuisance, that the Marshall Co. BOE is entitled to entry of an Order directing that the obstructions be removed or abated and that the stream channel, drainageway and floodway of Little Grave Creek be remediated.

(App. 19. Mrs. Reilley then obtained appellate counsel and this appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mrs. Reilley challenges first the lower court's failure to dismiss the case as untimely served. Rule 4(k) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires service within 120 days and the BOE admittedly failed to meet that deadline. The lower court's finding of "good cause" was unsupported by the record or the law.

Mrs. Reilley next challenges the lower court's refusal to dismiss or grant summary judgment with respect to the monetary damage claims which flowed from flood events occurring more than two years prior to the filing of the lawsuit. Under *Roberts v. W. Va. Am. Water Co.*, 221 W. Va. 373, 655 S.E.2d 119 (2007), those claims should have been dismissed.

Mrs. Reilley also challenges the lower court's decision to allow any of the monetary damage claims to reach the jury on the grounds that there was no showing that the conduct of Mr. Reilley in building the bridge, etc., proximately caused the damages claimed. In other words, the BOE could just say it had flood damage — it had to prove that the damages it claimed proximately flowed from the additional flooding it claims were caused by the bridge. Pouring a cup of water into an ocean increases the amount of water in the ocean, but it does not cause it to rise over a shoreline.

Finally, Mrs. Reilley challenges the lower court's award of a mandatory injunction. The order fails to meet the requirements of Rule 65 and 52 and was otherwise unsupported by the evidence.

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