MYRA KAY REILLEY, AS ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF FRANCIS E. REILLEY, AND MYRA KAY REILLEY, INDIVIDUALLY, (Defendants below).

Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

v.

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION

OF THE COUNTY OF MARSHALL. (Plaintiff below),

Respondent.

NO. 20-0849 (Appealed from the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Civil Action No. 10-C-180)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

Kenneth E. Webb, Jr., Esq. (WV Bar # 5560) Bowles Rice LLP 600 Quarrier Street Charleston, West Virginia 25301

Ph: (304) 347-1100 Fax: (304) 347-1746 kwebb@bowlesrice.com

Counsel for Respondent

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Marshall County correctly denied the Reilleys' Motion to Dismiss, correctly denied the Reilleys' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, correctly denied

the Reilleys' post-trial motions and correctly awarded the Marshall Co. BOE a mandatory injunction requiring that the Reilleys remove all obstructions they placed or caused to be placed in the stream channel and floodway of Little Grave Creek. Both the Record below and applicable legal authorities show that each of the Petitioner's four (4) assignments of error lacks merit. Accordingly, this Honorable Court should affirm the Circuit Court.

First, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that good cause excused the failure of counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE to serve the Summons and Complaint on Mr. Reilley within 120 days as required by Rule 4(k) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. The Record indicates that the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in finding "good cause," as counsel, at the time, was restructuring his law practice and requested that opposing counsel accept service on behalf of his client. Having found good cause in its discretion, the Circuit Court properly allowed the Marshall Co. BOE additional time—here twenty-eight (28) days—to serve the Summons and Complaint and property denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss.

Second, the Circuit Court did not err in denying the Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment regarding Petitioner's statute of limitations defense to the continuing trespass count of the Marshall Co. BOE's Complaint. At the dismissal stage, the Circuit Court properly found that the Complaint stated a claim for relief and that the Reilleys' Motion to Dismiss did not show that the Marshall Co. BOE could "prove no set of facts in support of [its] claim that would entitle [them] to relief." Similarly, the Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment on statute of limitations grounds. The Record contains sufficient evidence of a continuing tort and of the fact that the Marshall Co. BOE did not

⁵ At the motion to dismiss stage, Petitioner argued that the continuing tort doctrine did not extend the statute of limitations to cover the 2004 and 2008 flood events but ignored the issue of whether the discovery rule tolled the accrual of the statute of limitations for the 2004 and 2008 flood events.

understand the cause of the flooding until after Mr. Kearns did his hydrologic study. Accordingly, under either the continuing tort doctrine or the discovery rule, the accrual of the statute of limitations for the 2004 and 2008 flood events was tolled until at least early 2010. Accordingly, the Circuit properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss and Partial Motion for Summary Judgment.⁶

Third, the Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioner's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and post-trial motions for Judgment as a Matter of Law and for a New Trial. The trial Record supports and the Circuit Court properly denied Petitioner's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and found that there was a legally sufficient evidentiary basis for the jury to find in favor of the Marshall Co. BOE on the issue of causation. Additionally, because Petitioner did not renew her Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law at the close of all evidence, Petitioner waived her right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. In either event, the Circuit Court properly denied Petitioner's post-trial motions.

Fourth, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the Marshall Co. BOE a mandatory injunction requiring that the Reilleys remove all obstructions they placed or caused to be placed in the stream channel and floodway of Little Grave Creek. As a riparian owner, the Marshall Co. BOE has an absolute right to have any obstructions to Little Grave Creek placed by the Reilleys removed. The Marshall Co. BOE presented legally sufficient evidence of the fact that the Reilleys obstructed the flow of Little Grave Creek during trial of the damages phase of the case. The Circuit Court's Order awarding the Marshall Co. BOE injunctive relief

⁶ Petitioner's Partial Motion for Summary Judgment was expressly limited to Count Two of the Amended Complaint—stating a claim for continuing trespass. At the summary judgment stage, Petitioner argued that under the discovery rule, the 2004 and 2008 flood events were barred by the statute of limitations but ignored the import of the continuing tort doctrine on the issue. In any event, Petitioner abandoned the statute of limitations defense at trial and did not instruct on or submit the issue to the jury for consideration.

properly found as a matter of fact that the Reilleys had obstructed the flow of Little Grave Creek and properly found as a matter of law that the Marshall Co. BOE was entitled to entry of an order awarding them a mandatory injunction requiring that the Reilleys remove all obstructions they placed or caused to be placed in the stream channel and floodway of Little Grave Creek. Moreover, the Circuit Court is not required to balance the equities as part of its analysis. As such, the Circuit Court properly awarded the Marshall Co. BOE injunctive relief.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Respondent submits that review of the Record should allow this matter to be disposed of without oral argument. The specific findings of the Circuit Court on each of the Petitioner's Assignments of Error fully illustrate the propriety of the Circuit Court's decision. However, if oral argument is deemed necessary by this Honorable Court, the Respondents submit that the argument should proceed under Rule 19.

V. DISCUSSION

A. The Circuit Court correctly extended the time for service of the Summons and Complaint and found that good cause excused the late service of the Summons and Complaint.

Standard of review: This Court reviews the extension of time to file the summons and complaint and good cause findings of a Circuit Court under an abuse of discretion standard. Syl. Pt. 1, *Burkes v. Fas-Chek Food Mart*, 217 W. Va. 291, 617 S.E.2d 838 (2005). An abuse of discretion review is limited for "[u]nder abuse of discretion review, we do not substitute our judgment for the circuit court's." *State v. Taylor*, 215 W. Va. 74, 83, 593 S.E.2d 645, 654 (2004) (citing *Burdette v. Maust Coal & Coke Corp.*, 159 W. Va. 335, 342, 222 S.E.2d 293, 297 (1976) (per curiam). "In general, an abuse of discretion occurs when a material factor deserving significant weight is ignored, when an improper factor is relied upon, or when all proper and no improper factors are assessed but the circuit court makes a serious mistake in weighing them."

State v. Hedrick, 204 W. Va. 547, 553, 514 S.E.2d 397, 403 (1999) (quoting Gentry v. Mangum, 195 W. Va. 512, 520 n. 6, 466 S.E.2d 171, 179 n. 6 (1995)).

Rule 4(k) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires that the summons and complaint be served within 120 days of filing. If the plaintiff fails to serve the summons and complaint within 120 days, the court can dismiss the complaint without prejudice or direct that service be made within a specified period of time. Additionally, the plaintiff can show good cause for the failure to timely serve the complaint. If the plaintiff shows good cause for the failure to timely serve the summons and complaint, the court shall extend the time for service of the summons and complaint. *Burkes v. Fas-Chek Food Mart*, 217 W. Va. 291, 297, 617 S.E.2d 838, 844 (2005). Accordingly, even in the absence of a showing of good cause, a court may extend the time period for service in its discretion. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 3.

The factors considered in determining whether a plaintiff have established good cause to extend the date for service include: "(1) the length of time used to obtain service; (2) the activities of the plaintiff; (3) the plaintiff's knowledge of the defendant's location; (4) the ease with which the defendant's location could have been ascertained; (5) the actual knowledge by the defendant of the pendency of the action; and (6) special circumstances which would affect plaintiff's efforts." *State ex rel. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc. v. Kaufman,* 197 W. Va. 282, 288, 475 S.E.2d 374, 380 (1996). Moreover, "[f]actors circuit courts should consider in determining whether to extend the time for service, in the absence of a showing of good cause by the plaintiff, include, but are not limited to: (1) whether the defendant evaded service; (2) whether the defendant knowingly concealed a defect in service; (3) whether the statute of limitations has expired, and (4) whether the defendant had been prejudiced by the failure to serve. *Burkes*, at Syl. Pt. 4.

Based upon an affidavit presented by counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE that explained the circumstances surrounding the late service of Mr. Reilley, the Circuit Court found that plaintiff had made a showing of good cause and denied the Motion to dismiss for late service. According to the affidavit: Counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE provided counsel for Reilley with a copy of the Summons and Complaint and asked counsel for Reilley if Reilley was interested in trying to amicably resolve the situation. AR 85. Counsel for Reilley acknowledged receipt of the letter and Complaint but did not otherwise communicate regarding resolution of the matter. AR 81-82. In the meantime, the circumstances of counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE required that he restructure his law practice which consumed a substantial amount of counsel's time and attention. AR 81. On January 11, 2011, counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE inquired of counsel for all defendants if they would accept service of process. Counsel for the City and County agreed and were served. Counsel for Reilley did not immediately respond—e.g., did not agree or refuse to accept service. On January 27, 2011, counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE again asked counsel for Reilley if Reilley would accept service. Late that same day, counsel for Reilley indicated Reilley would not accept service. In response, counsel for the Marshall Co. BOE hired a private process server and had Mr. Reilley served the next day. AR 83.

Based upon the events set out in the affidavit, the Circuit Court found that the Marshall Co. BOE had "clearly" shown good cause for the late service. To be sure, the time and attention that counsel for Marshall Co. BOE was required to dedicate to the restructuring of his law practice is the type of "special circumstance" affecting plaintiff's service efforts that the Circuit Court may base a good cause finding upon. The "special circumstance" described in the affidavit is a material factor in the finding good cause analysis that was properly weighed by the Circuit Court. In other words, there is no contention from Petitioner that the Circuit Court relied

upon an improper factor or mistakenly weighed a proper factor. As such, the Circuit Court's denial of the Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss on service of process grounds and allowing service of the Summons and Complaint twenty-eight (28) days after the 120 period was not an abuse of discretion but; rather, the proper exercise of discretion under the circumstances. Accordingly, Petitioner's first assignment of error lacks merit and the Circuit Court's decision should be affirmed.

B. The Circuit Court correctly denied Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment regarding Petitioner's statute of limitations defense.

Standard of review: "When a party . . . assigns as error a circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss, the circuit court's disposition of the motion to dismiss will be reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 4, Ewing v. Bd of Educ of Cty. of Summers, 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998). "For purposes of the motion to dismiss, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true." W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple, 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015). "Dismissal for failure to state a claim is only proper where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations in the complaint." Id. A complaint must "at minimum . . . set forth sufficient information to outline the elements of [the plaintiff's] claim." Id.

Reviewing de novo, the Supreme Court of Appeals "appl[ies] the same standard as a circuit court" in reviewing summary judgment. Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). "A motion for summary judgment should be granted *only when it is clear* that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Id.* at 192, 758. "[T]he underlying facts and all inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party" and "the nonmoving party

⁷ Additionally, any dismissal would have been without prejudice and West Virginia's savings statute—West Virginia Code § 55-2-18—would have allowed for the refiling of the action without affecting any statute of limitations defense.

must... offer some 'concrete evidence from which a reasonable... [finder of fact] could return a verdict in ... its favor." *Id.* (citing *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby*, 447 U.S. 242, 256 (1986)).

Petitioner next complains that the Circuit Court committed reversible error by failing to dismiss the Complaint or grant Petitioner a summary judgment on statute of limitations grounds. In her Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Mrs. Reilley argues that a two (2)-year statute of limitations applies to the continuing trespass claim and that both the September 17, 2004 and February 1, 2008 flood events occurred more than two (2) years before the original Complaint was filed in 2010 so that any claims related thereto are now time barred. Mrs. Reilley's position ignores the continuing tort doctrine and application of the discovery rule to the facts of the case. Moreover, her position assumes that the Marshall Co. BOE's cause of action for continuing trespass for the September 17, 2004 and February 1, 2008 flood events accrued when the floods occurred – i.e., more than two (2) years before the original Complaint was filed in 2010.

In cases alleging a continuing tort where the tortious act can be remedied or discontinued, the statute of limitations does not accrue until the last injury or when the tortious act ceases. The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia addressed the issue of when the statute of limitations accrues for property damage resulting from obstruction of the flow of water in *Graham v. Beverage*, 211 W. Va. 466, 566 S.E.2d 603 (2002). The *Graham* case involved allegations that the defendants negligently constructed a surface water drainage system that allowed water to periodically infiltrate a neighboring residence after heavy rains. *Id.* at 470-71, 607-08. When the plaintiff/neighboring homeowner complained, the defendants argued, *inter alia*, that the negligence claims were time barred. The lower court granted a motion for summary

judgment on statute of limitations grounds and the neighboring homeowner appealed. This Court reversed the lower court's finding that the negligence claim was time barred, holding that:

Where a tort involves a continuing or repeated injury, the cause of action accrues at and the statute of limitations begins to run from the date of the last injury or when the tortious overt acts or omissions cease.

Syl. pt. 11, *Graham v. Beverage*, 211 W. Va. 466, 566 S.E.2d 603 (2002); see also, Syl. pt. 4, *Taylor v. Culloden Public Service District*, 214 W. Va. 639, 591 S.E.2d 197 (2003).

The overarching claim in the present case is that the Reilleys negligently constructed the bridge and embankment across Little Grave Creek so that the bridge and embankment periodically—during periods of heavy flow—obstructs the flow of Little Grave Creek and causes water to impound on property of the Marshall Co. BOE behind John Marshall High School including the baseball field. As the builder and owner of the bridge and embankment, the Reilleys have a continuing duty to ensure that the bridge and embankment do not obstruct the flow of Little Grave Creek. This Court held in Syllabus Point 3 of *Riddle v. Baltimore & O. R. Co.*, 137 W. Va. 733, 73 S.E.2d 793 (1952) that:

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